IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-456

SCA EFiled: Jan 22 2024

09:39PM EST

Transaction ID 71850704

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred by failing to grant a mistrial and/or new trial based upon impermissible prosecutorial comment during closing argument.
2. The Circuit Court erred by failing to give the Petitioner's "missing witness" instruction.
3. The Circuit Court erred by failing to grant the Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal based upon the State's reliance on inherently incredible testimony.
4. The Petitioner is entitled to a new trial due to the omission of bench conferences from the transcripts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was arrested and subsequently indicted for murder and use of firearm during commission of a felony following an investigation into the shooting death of Wesley Rohrbaugh in Cabins, Grant County, West Virginia. (A.R., at 20-21). As indicated in the State's pretrial memorandum, the State intended to put on testimony that (among other things¹) the Petitioner had obtained a "Glock 40" from a neighbor, that another set of neighbors saw him pistol-whip Mr. Rorhbaugh, and that several witnesses, including the Petitioner's sister Caternia Mullins, were outside the garage when one or more gunshots took place. The State further indicated that it intended to put on testimony of the Petitioner's mother, Denise Shanholtz, that her subsequently-deceased husband had made utterances that were inculpatory toward the Petitioner after being in proximity to the scene. (A.R., at 23-24). The State also indicated that it was going to put on testimony from Jeremiah Dean, that he had obtained a "Glock 40" pistol from the Petitioner, and that the Petitioner had indicated it was the gun used in the instant crime.

¹ The State's full theory of the case is summarized in the pretrial memorandum, although there were some differences between the memorandum and the testimony ultimately presented at trial. (A.R., at 23-25).

(A.R., at 24).

Prior to trial, the Petitioner came across information relating to certain State's witnesses that indicated the existence of cooperation agreements with the State that had not been disclosed by the prosecution; accordingly, the Petitioner moved for the disclosure of all such inducements offered to witnesses by the State. (A.R., at 65-73). In its response, the State had the following to say about the inducement offered to the Defendant's sister, Caterina Mullins:

Caterina Mullins has a prior qualifying offense under §61-11-18, dealing with a Meth lab. She was charged in February of 2022, with Possession with Intent to Deliver Heroin, and two misdemeanor offenses of Possession of Controlled Substances. Later, while in jail, she was charged with Conspiracy, and nine Felony counts of Accessory Before the Fact to Fraud in connection with an Access Device.

She is represented by Sherman Law Firm. Her statements with regard to the evening the murder was committed, are in conflict with the statements of Jared Michael, Tammy Lofton, and her now deceased stepfather, who were all, no further than 15 ft. from her when the murder was committed. It is the State's belief that if she could provide truthful testimony consistence [sic] with what the three other witnesses said in their statements.

In an earlier telephone conversation that I had with one of her counsel, Larry Sherman, I advised that I was ready to go to trial, and would go to trial on all of her charges unless she was willing to provide truthful testimony. After a while, I was assured by Attorney Larry Sherman that she would cooperate. As a result of these representations by her counsel, I made the September 8, 2022, offer attached.

On December 7th, 2022, I was prepared to allow her to enter a plea consistence [sic] with the September 8th, offer. The Court suggested that she be debriefed before her plea.

In advance of the debriefing, I sent her counsel the attached letter about the areas where her lack of knowledge was inconsistent with the three people that were within 15 ft. of her.

After counsel received the letter and discussed it with Caterina Mullins, her counsel advised that she would not cooperate. After learning this, by letter of January 30th, I withdrew the September 9th, offer. Her cases are set for trial on February 22nd, 2023.

(A.R., at 75-76).

The State also referenced its offer made to the Petitioner's mother, Denise Shanholtz, in the form of a letter to her counsel:

Dear Jonie:

As you know, the Defendant [Ms. Shanholtz], is charged with nine felonies of Fraud in Connection with Access Devices and one count of Conspiracy, that is ten felonies.

By way of a plea offer, I would like to discuss the following.

I believe she knows a lot more about the murder at Allen's Trailer Court, than she has disclosed to the police. The evidence that day shows that her husband was in the room with her son, when her son killed Mr. Rohrbaugh. Her husband saw what happened. The evidence shows that he ran out of the garage, where Mr. Rohrbaugh was killed, ran to your client, fathered her up, got in a car and left. Certainly, her husband told her what he saw, and heard. I would like you to talk to her and see what she knows. I would also like you to do this rather quickly, since we have a trial scheduled in the murder case in early December.

Should she agree to provide truthful testimony in the murder case, with regard to the excited utterances of her husband, coming out of the garage, where Mr. Rohrbaugh was killed, I would be inclined to offer her a misdemeanor conspiracy provided full restitution is made in advance. To be clear, I am not asking her to invent testimony, or to testify untruthfully, at all. I would like her truthful cooperation. I would also like you to continue her case until after the murder trial.

Kindly talk this over with your client, and get back to me as soon as you can.

(A.R., at 85).

The case proceeded to trial on April 6, 2023. However, prior to testimony being put on, a mistrial was declared because a prospective juror blurted out that the Petitioner had used drugs in the bathroom of the convenience store that he managed, and because defense counsel overheard Mr. Rohrbaugh's sister speaking with one of the jurors during a smoke break shortly after the juror was sworn, and disputed the juror's and sister's assertion that the interaction was innocuous. The Circuit Court ruled that the combined effect of those two issues had tainted the proceedings sufficiently to justify a mistrial. (A.R., at 87-90).

The second trial commenced on May 11, and continued through May 15. During this trial, the jurors heard the testimony of the various State's witnesses who had been proffered pretrial; however neither the Petitioner's Mother, Denise Shanholtz, nor the Petitioner's sister, Caternia Mullins, were called by the State. Additionally, the testimony of several other State's witnesses was rendered unnecessary by means of stipulations. (A.R., at 92-93). The jury heard from both parties' firearm/toolmark experts: Theodore Chavez from the FBI for the State, and Todd Neumyer, a retired member of the Pennsylvania State Police, for the Defendant. The reports and testimony of both experts were in essential agreement that the firearm used to kill Mr. Rohrbaugh was a Glock Generation 5, 40 caliber pistol, either model 22, model 23, or model 27. (A.R., at 148-158, 163-187, 455-485, 690-728).

Notably, in the State's case, Jeremiah Dean, who allegedly received the murder weapon in a trade with the Petitioner, testified that he received a "Glock 40 I think 2nd Gen pistol." (A.R., at 412, 420-421). He also testified that "it had an extra lock that locked the slide from coming back" and that the grip was metal. (A.R., at 421-423). He testified that the Petitioner told him it was the weapon used to kill Mr. Rohrbaugh. (A.R., at 415). During Mr. Chavez's subsequent testimony, he ruled out the possibility that a Gen 2 Glock could have fired the shots that killed Mr. Rohrbaugh. (A.R., at 478-479). Mr. Neumyer likewise testified that the firearm possessing the physical features described by Mr. Dean could not have been within the class of firearms (Glock Gen 5) that caused Mr. Rohrbaugh's death. (A.R., at 726-727).

During the testimony of the investigating officer, Kirk Thorne, the following testimony took place:

Q. Alright. On that day were statements taken of all of the witnesses that have testified today?

A. Yes.

Q. Basically, was their testimony consistent with their statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you interview Caterina Mullins?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Was her statement helpful in our case?

A. No.

[Bench conference omitted]

Q. Kirk, the last question was, did you take a statement from Caterina Mullins, and you said yes.

A. Yes, correct.

Q. And I believe the next question I asked you was it helpful and you said no, is that correct?

A. Correct. I mean nothing that we were going to use.

Q. Alrighty. Did you take a statement of Greg Shanholtz?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Shanholtz died of natural causes in November of last year, so we're not allowed to talk about that.

A. Correct.

Q. Did you take a statement from Denise Shanholtz?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it your decision she wasn't helpful?

A. Correct.

(A.R., at 609-610).

Later during trial, the Petitioner submitted "Defendant's Jury Instruction 'A'", which read

as follows:

MISSING WITNESS:

The Court instructs the jury that the failure of the State to call available material witnesses gives rise to the inference that had those witnesses testified, their testimony would have been adverse to the State's case.

[Source: *McGlone v. Superior Trucking Co., Inc.*, 178 W. Va. 659, 363 S.E.2d 736 (1987); F. Cleckley, Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers, Section 3-1(c)(J) (3rd Ed. 1994); Russell S. Cook, West Virginia Criminal Jury Instructions, p. 52 (6th Ed. 2003).]

(A.R., at 95).

After the close of the State's case, the Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal.

(A.R., at 670-671). During discussion on jury instructions, the following exchange took place

out of the hearing of the jury regarding the proposed instruction:

MR. EASTON: Mr. Cooper filed a Motion to add an Instruction after we had heard some testimony we were not necessarily expecting.

THE COURT: Okay. Can I see it?

MR. EASTON: It was e-filed.

MR. COOPER: I e-filed it yesterday morning Your Honor.

THE COURT: Well, you might as well have wrapped it up in an envelope and thrown it out in the yard for me. Can I get a copy of it?

MR. COOPER: I don't have one printed out Your Honor, I apologize.

THE COURT: That's alright. What's it for?

MR. COOPER: So, it's Defense Instruction A. It's an Instruction about missing witness where the State had the opportunity to call an available witness and did not. That leads to an inference that the testimony would have been adverse to the State's case.

THE COURT: Who'd they fail to call?

MR. COOPER: There was Caterina Mullins who was in the custody of the DOC who the State could have called as an eyewitness at the time or ear witness.

THE COURT: She has reviewed [sic] to cooperate with the State in any way.

MR. OURS: Your Honor. You don't have the Discovery, but her statement is I don't believe that my brother would do that and maintains that she wasn't there.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. COOPER: And the other is Denise Shanholtz who also was present and supposedly heard a confession at the time.

THE COURT: Who?

MR. COOPER: Denise Shanholtz.

THE COURT: His mother?

MR. COOPER: Yes. Who was present at the scene when this supposedly happened and whose been present at the courthouse throughout these proceedings that was available to the State that they did not call. And in fact...

THE COURT: Why didn't you?

MR. COOPER: Well, we don't have the burden to produce evidence.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm not giving that Instruction.

MR. COOPER: In the alternative, can I have an Instruction that they may draw an adverse inference from a missing witness? Lieutenant Thorne testified that they gave statements that were unhelpful to the State's case so it's not even consistent with what the States testimony reflected.

THE COURT: Get it printed out and let me look at it. Wait here it is. Hold on.

THE COURT: You want it to say what?

MR. COOPER: That the Court instructs the jury that States failure to call an available witness in this case Denise Shanholtz and Caterina Mullins leads to an adverse inference that the testimony would have been adverse to the State's case or something along those lines is what I put in the...

THE COURT: I'm going to deny that.

MR. COOPER: Please note my objection.

THE COURT: So, noted. These people failed to cooperate in any way. Alright. We ready? Bring them in.

(A.R., at 735-737).

During closing argument, the Petitioner made two objections to the State's commentary, both of which were sustained. First, during the State's initial argument, the argument closed as follows:

Don't be hesitant, it's your sworn duty to do your job. You all know what your job is. None of you wanted it, none of you relish it but you know what it is. It's your duty as a United States citizen. As a citizen of West Virginia and particularly of Grant County. You will send a message with your verdict. And your message will be, this is what's permitted in Grant County.

MR. COOPER: Objection Your Honor. You're not allowed to instruct the jury to send a message to the community...

THE COURT: Alright. Move on Mr. Ours. Sustained. You have twenty minutes left sir.

MR. OURS: I have twenty minutes left? You mean total? With that I will sit down. I want you to think about what you just heard. The Defense is going to get up and argue their best that they can to create reasonable doubt. Listen to them fairly. I will address you again in a little while.

(A.R., at 768-769).

During the State's rebuttal, the Prosecuting Attorney attempted to introduce the jury to

Mr. Rohrbaugh's family members who were seated in the courtroom, to which the Petitioner immediately objected:

Ladies and Gentlemen, I could talk longer, and the Judge will tell you this will probably be the first time John didn't use all of his time. You've heard enough. I told you earlier, when you look at the verdict the first one is the one, you'll be looking for. It says Guilty of Murder in the First Degree. Then you come to the mercy part of it. I want to introduce you to Wes's father...

MR. COOPER: Objection Your Honor. I have to approach.

THE COURT: Hold on. Come on. Everybody come up.

(COUNSEL BENCH SIDE)²

THE COURT: Ladies and Gentlemen, do not consider the last remarks the Prosecuting Attorney made where he introduced the family. Certainly, everybody has a family and I imagine both families are very upset about this situation but do not take into account what the Prosecutor just said.

(A.R., at 794).

The Petitioner elected to have a unitary trial without a separate mercy phase. Thus, the matter was submitted to the jury on the question of guilt, and if the verdict was guilty of murder in the first degree, the question of mercy as well. A jury question was submitted, asking if the jury was able to extend the period of parole eligibility beyond fifteen years. The parties agreed that the jury had to be instructed that it would be up to the parole board. (A.R., at 796-797).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on first degree murder without a recommendation of mercy, and guilty of use of a firearm during commission of a felony. (A.R., at 797-798). After the verdict, the Prosecuting Attorney stated the following concerning the objection to his argument:

² Disturbingly, the bench conferences throughout the trial were omitted from the transcript, as discussed further in Assignment of Error number four. The nature of the objection is evident from the surrounding context of the transcript and the trial orders that the Petitioner moved for a mistrial and took the position that a curative instruction was insufficient to ameliorate the error. (A.R., at 112, 794). That oral motion for mistrial and assertion of the insufficiency of a curative instruction was also alluded to in the written post-trial motions that followed the verdict. (A.R., at 119).

MR. OURS: Yes, Your Honor. There was an objection made during closing argument and I want the Court to know, and I want the record to reflect. I was introducing the victim's family and the objection came in before I was able to introduce the Defendant's family. That was my intention to do so. My intention was to say that both families want the correct verdict.

(A.R., at 799).

The Petitioner filed timely post-trial motions, in which he requested a judgment of acquittal on the basis that the State's case was predicated on inherently incredible testimony about the firearm. He also requested a new trial based upon the State's two instances of improper closing argument, and due to the denial of the "missing witness" instruction. (A.R., at 116-120). At the post-trial motion hearing, immediately prior to sentencing, the Circuit Court denied the Petitioner's Motion for New Trial based on the missing witness jury instruction, holding that "the Defense was free to have called both Catrenia Mullins and Denise Shanholtz as witnesses if they so desired, but didn't[.]" (A.R., at 127). The Circuit Court denied the Motion for New Trial based upon improper prosecutorial comment by holding that "the reference to the Prosecutor's remark in closing argument, to sending a message to Grant County was mentioned only once, and corrected by the Courts' instruction to disregard that remark, on the motion of the State, and the State beginning to introduce the victim's family during argument, was ended by the Defense's objection before anyone knew what the purpose could have been." (A.R., at 127). The Circuit Court also denied the motion for judgment of acquittal based on inherently incredible testimony, holding that "the Court remembered, at trial, that the Defendant testified that he wasn't a gun guy, and also pointed out that there were three different confessions made by the Defendant, also heard by the jury." (A.R., at 127). The Circuit Court sentenced the Petitioner to life without mercy in accordance with the jury verdict, and it is from this judgment of sentence that the Petitioner now appeals. (A.R., at 130-132).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred by denying relief on the three issues raised in the Petitioner's post-trial motions, each of which related to prior motions made at trial. First, the Prosecuting Attorney engaged in impermissible closing arguments on two occasions, both of which were timely objected to. The first impermissible argument was a request that the jury use its verdict to send a message to Grant County. The second was an attempt to introduce the jury to the family of the decedent. Although the Petitioner immediately objected to both acts of the Prosecutor, the State's misconduct succeeded in bringing these inappropriate matters to the jury's attention.

Second, following testimony by the investigating officer that the interviews taken of the Petitioner's mother and sister were not helpful, and the State's decision not to call those two witnesses despite their availability, the Petitioner sought a "Missing Witness" instruction from the Circuit Court. Although the instruction requested by the Petitioner was a correct statement of the law, the Circuit Court declined to instruct the jury in accordance with the proposed instruction.

Third, the Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal based on the State's reliance upon inherently incredible evidence. The expert testimony in this case was clear that only a Generation 5 Glock of certain models could have been the weapon that killed the decedent. Yet the State produced a witness who claimed to have received a Generation 2 Glock from the Petitioner, and claimed to have heard the Petitioner identify the weapon as the one used in the killing. It is physically impossible that the weapon described by the State's witness could have been the one used to kill the decedent, yet the State relied on this testimony and referred to it in closing arguments.

Finally, the Petitioner raises a claim that various missing bench conferences throughout the trial transcript operated to prejudice him in his ability to comprehensively appeal his conviction and life sentence. Although the contents of several bench conferences can be ascertained by a review of the record, there are several that remain uncertain. It cannot now be known whether an objection was preserved in any of these missing transcript segments. Consequently, the Petitioner should receive a new trial.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner asserts that this matter is suitable for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because it raises an issue of the constitutionality of a court ruling. Alternatively, this matter should be scheduled for Rule 19 argument as it involves an unsustainable exercise of discretion by the lower court. This matter should be disposed of by signed opinion.

ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court erred by failing to grant a mistrial and/or new trial based upon impermissible prosecutorial comment during closing argument.

Concerning claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court has set forth the following standard:

In evaluating an Appellant's claim of prosecutorial misconduct, we are guided by the principles enunciated in syllabus point six of *State v. Sugg*, 193 W.Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995):

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