IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-456

SCA EFiled: Mar 07 2024

01:23PM EST

Transaction ID 72322327

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

CARL RAY SUMMERFIELD,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Caleb A. Seckman (WV Bar No. 13964)

Assistant Solicitor General
Office of the West Virginia Attorney General
1900 Kanawha Blvd., East
Building 1, Room E-26
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Facsimile: (304) 558-0140

Email: Caleb.A.Seckman@wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summerfield's first assignment of error asks the Court to grant him a new trial based on two fleeting remarks from the prosecutor during closing argument. Those remarks did not prejudice Summerfield though, and their mere existence is not enough for a new trial. This is particularly true in the face of all the evidence against Summerfield. And on top of all that, the circuit court cured any potential harm that the comments could have caused through appropriate jury instructions. This first assignment thus fails.

Summerfield also seeks a new trial on his second assignment of error which alleges that the circuit court erred by declining to give a missing witness instruction to the jury. But Summerfield's proposed instruction was an incorrect statement of law. By this Court's precedent, the circuit court was thus correct to reject it—indeed, *giving* an incorrect instruction may have been error. Though Summerfield asks the Court to overturn settled case law to rule for him nonetheless, that precedent should stand. As such, this second assignment does not prevail either.

Summerfield's third assignment again asks for a new trial, this time because there was allegedly insufficient evidence to convict him. But witnesses described to the jury no fewer than three separate confessions by Summerfield. That evidence, coupled with the circumstantial and

physical evidence in the case, was more than enough for the jury to convict Summerfield. And Summerfield's misplaced reliance on a sexual offense standard does not alter this analysis. So, his third assignment falls in turn with the first two.

Summerfield's final assignment requests a new trial simply because the transcripts in the case do not detail multiple bench conferences. Summerfield never objected to those portions of trial not being transcribed, and he fails to explain how he is prejudiced now by these omissions. In fact, Summerfield himself notes that many of the bench conferences were inconsequential or even resulted in a ruling in his favor. At best, he argues that some of the conferences were unclear. Yet without showing specific prejudice to his appeal, the mere omission of the bench conferences from the trial transcript does not amount to reversible error. Just like the others, this assignment loses.

At bottom, Summerfield asks the Court to overturn a jury verdict. He does not shoulder the immense burden this request levies. As such, the Court should affirm Summerfield's conviction for first-degree murder and his resulting life sentence.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This case does not warrant Rule 19 or Rule 20 oral argument. The Court can decide it on the briefs and record, and a memorandum decision would be appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I. The Prosecutor's Comments Did Not Violate Summerfield's Due Process Rights.

Summerfield first argues that two brief comments during closing arguments should afford him a mistrial. The first comment was made by the prosecution during closing argument when he told the jury: "You will send a message with your verdict. And your message will be, this is what's permitted in Grant County." App. 769. The second comment came later in the closing, with the prosecutor this time telling the jury: "I want to introduce you to Wes's father." App. 794.

In both instances, Summerfield's counsel objected, and the circuit court cut off the comments. *See* App. 769 and 794.

These remarks are all that Summerfield points to as warranting a new trial. Yet "[a] judgment of conviction will not be set aside because of improper remarks made by a prosecuting attorney to a jury" unless those remarks "clearly prejudice the accused or result in manifest injustice." State v. Sugg, 193 W. Va. 388, 405, 456 S.E.2d 469, 486 (1995) (emphasis added). This is a high bar, and even "undesirable or ... universally condemned" remarks do not meet it on their own. Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986).

So, to succeed, Summerfield must show that the remarks "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643 (1974). This determination is "gauged from the facts" of a given case. *Sugg*, 193 W. Va. at 405, 456 S.E.2d at 486. Four factors guide this analysis: "(1) the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) whether the remarks were isolated or extensive; (3) absent the remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to establish the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were deliberately placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters." Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Mills*, 219 W. Va. 28, 631 S.E.2d 586 (2005). None of those factors weigh in Summerfield's favor, so he cannot show clear prejudice or manifest injustice.

A. The Prosecutor's Comments Did Not Mislead The Jury Or Prejudice Summerfield.

On the first factor, no evidence exists that the prosecutor's remarks here misled the jury or prejudiced Summerfield. First, Summerfield does not allege that the comments were deceptive in any way. Nor could he, as neither comment had anything to do with the law or contested facts.

Rather, Summerfield argues only that the comments were intentionally "inflammatory" and thus prejudiced him. Pet'r's Br. 15.

To "determine[e] prejudice" for purposes of this factor, this Court looks to the "scope of the objectionable comments," "their relationship to the entire proceedings," the "ameliorative effect of any curative instruction given or that could have been given but was not asked for, and the strength of the evidence supporting the defendant's conviction." *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 684, 461 S.E.2d 163, 190 (1995). The scope and relationship of the comments to the proceedings as well as the strength of the evidence track the remaining due process factors and will be discussed further below.

Focusing for now on the other features *Guthrie* discusses, the record shows the circuit court prevented both comments from causing any prejudice to Summerfield. And in fact, the lower court sustained "instantaneous" objections to both of the comments. Pet'r's Br. 14. As such, the case can be decided on the first factor based on the circuit court's ameliorative actions.

For the first comment, the prosecutor began to tell the jury that they could "send a message with [their] verdict," but the court sustained an objection and agreed with Summerfield's counsel that the prosecutor is "not allowed to instruct the jury to send a message to the community." App. 769. And at the time, Summerfield did not ask the circuit court to provide any further curative instructions following the sustained objection. So, for this first comment, Summerfield's failure to "request the court to instruct the jury to disregard" the statement means he cannot "take advantage of" the prosecutor's partial remark. *State v. Lewis*, 133 W. Va. 584, 608, 57 S.E.2d 513, 528 (1949). And for the second comment, the court specifically instructed the jury to "not consider the last remarks the Prosecuting Attorney made where he introduced the family." App. 794. The circuit court thus corrected any potential harm that could have arisen from the remarks. *See State*

v. Lambert, 232 W. Va. 104, 114, 750 S.E.2d 657, 667 (2013) (finding no reversible error where prosecutor's potentially improper remarks were "offset" by the "circuit's repeated instructions to the jury"). As such, the "ameliorative effect" of the circuit court's actual actions—and the hypothetical additional actions Summerfield failed to ask for—was sufficient to prevent any prejudice to Summerfield. *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 684, 461 S.E.2d at 190.

Summerfield's only counter to the ameliorative actions—those both "given or that could have been given but w[ere] not asked for," *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 684, 461 S.E.2d at 190—is a general claim that "curative instruction[s] [are] an insufficient remedy," Pet'r's Br. 15. He gives no support for this claim, though, and the suggestion that curative instructions *cannot* address improper remarks flies in the face of this Court's directive to specifically consider the "ameliorative effect of any curative instruction given." *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 684, 461 S.E.2d at 190.

And all of that assumes that the remarks were damaging in the first place. The circuit court's intervention casts doubt on that proposition. Still, even if Summerfield is correct in saying that "[a] drop of ink cannot be removed from a glass of milk," Pet'r's Br. 15 (quoting *Gov't of V.I. v. Toto*, 529 F.2d 278, 283 (3d Cir. 1976), no such contamination occurred here. The "drop of ink" discussed in *Toto* referred to the admission of "prior criminal acts which ha[d] no purpose except to infer a propensity or disposition [of the defendant] to commit crime." *Toto*, 529 F.2d at 283. That is not the kind of comment at issue here. Yet even assuming the half-spoken comments from the prosecutor started to rise to that level, the circuit court prevented them from getting there. So, at worst, the prosecutor picked up the inkwell, but before he could do anything further, the circuit court removed the pen from his hand. Because of the circuit court's intervention, there is

no reason to suspect that the prosecutor's comments affected Summerfield's "presumption of innocence." *Id.* Thus, the proverbial glass of milk remained unadulterated.

And the prejudice analysis does not change just because Summerfield "declined to ask for a bifurcated mercy phase." Pet'r's Br. 15. Summerfield offers no legal support for that position. In reality, Summerfield was never empowered to make the choice not to have a bifurcated trial in the first place nor did he "g[i]ve up the opportunity to put on testimony in mitigation of punishment." *Id.* Rather—even if Summerfield had asked for it—it is the circuit court who had "discretionary authority to bifurcate [the] trial." *State ex rel. Dunlap v. McBride*, 225 W. Va. 192, 201, 691 S.E.2d 183, 192 (2010).

It is not just Summerfield who could have asked the circuit court for bifurcation either: The State can also move for a split trial. *See Dunlap*, 225 W. Va. at 201, 691 S.E.2d at 192. (upholding a circuit court's decision to bifurcate a trial on the State's motion). So, Summerfield never made a "strategic tradeoff relating to the mercy issue," Pet'r's Br. 15. As a result, there is no reason to suspect "deepened" prejudice, *id.*, from a unitary trial when the State could have simply sought bifurcation if it wanted to present "evidence involving [Summerfield] that may not have been admissible during the guilt phase" but was "relevant as to the decision of whether [he] should receive mercy," *Dunlap*, 225 W. Va. at 201, 691 S.E.2d at 192.

But put aside the fact that Summerfield did not make a strategic call to decline bifurcation. Whether it was his decision is not the deciding factor anyway. The only relevant test is prejudice to the defendant. None of the cases analyzing that question turned on bifurcation, and Summerfield does not offer anything else to show he was prejudiced.

In any case, if Summerfield felt that he was prejudiced by a unitary trial, he still could have sought bifurcation from the circuit court. There is no evidence he did, let alone that such a motion

was improperly denied. Thus, on top of being incorrect, the argument that a unitary—rather than bifurcated—trial prejudiced Summerfield is raised "for the first time on direct appeal" and should not be considered. Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Salmons*, 203 W. Va. 561, 509 S.E.2d 842 (1998).

B. The Remaining Factors Are Against Summerfield As Well.

Summerfield fails to show the most important factor of prejudice stemming from the partial remarks that the judge cured through sustaining quick objections and a curative instruction. He fares no better on the remaining three factors.

First, the prosecutor's remarks were "limited" and lasted mere seconds. State v. Thomas, 249 W. Va. 181, ____, 895 S.E.2d 36, 50 (2023). In fact, Summerfield complains of only two fleeting comments in total throughout the entire trial. One of those comments was that the jury could "send a message with [its] verdict," App. 768-69, and the other was that the prosecutor "want[ed] to introduce [the jury] to [Rohrbaugh's] father," App. 794. These comments "were of limited duration and were not extensive." Mills, 219 W. Va. at 36, 631 S.E.2d at 594. And importantly, Summerfield's counsel immediately objected to both comments. See App. 768-69, 794. The circuit court upheld these objections as well, thus cutting off the comments and isolating them from the rest of the closing argument and the trial in general. See App. 768-69, 794.

Second, the "strength of the evidence that established [Summerfield's] guilt weighs heavily against" ordering a mistrial. *Thomas*, 249 W. Va. at ____, 895 S.E.2d at 50. For instance, witnesses described a fight between Summerfield and Rohrbaugh. App. 763. Those same witnesses saw Summerfield take Rohrbaugh to the garage. App. 763. They then heard gunshots. App. 763. And there was evidence that Summerfield was at the site of Rohrbaugh's death as well. App. 763. Further, a witness testified that Rohrbaugh shouted Summerfield's name and asked why Summerfield shot him. App. 763-64. Yet another witness discovered Rohrbaugh's body in

Summerfield's garage. App. 780. Finally, there were at least *three* separate confessions made by Summerfield to the murder: one in front of Lofton, one to Dean, and one to Campbell. App. 764-65. In short, "[t]he evidence in this case was overwhelming," and so this factor counsels against vacating Summerfield's conviction, too. *State v. McCartney*, 228 W. Va. 315, 332, 719 S.E.2d 785, 802 (2011).

Third, "there is no evidence to indicate that these isolated comments were deliberately made to divert the jury's attention to an extraneous matter." State v. Rexrode, 243 W. Va. 302, 316, 844 S.E.2d 73, 87 (2020). Summerfield argues that it is "apparent" that the "comments were deliberate and calculated" to distract the jury. Pet'r's Br. 16. He bases this idea on the fact that the prosecutor said he intended to mention Summerfield's family in his closing after the reference to Rohrbaugh's family—he says this is evidence of the prosecutor's intention to inappropriately influence the jury. Id. But it is unclear how a reference to Summerfield's family could negatively affect his standing before the jury. If anything, it would possibly endear him to the jury by humanizing him. But despite this, Summerfield points to nothing else that indicates an intention to impermissibly divert the jury. Without such evidence, this factor—like all the others—is against Summerfield.

* * *

In the end, "a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone, for the statements or conduct must be viewed in context." *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 11 (1985). Here, the context shows it is "highly probable the [comments] did not contribute to the judgment." *Guthrie*, 237 W. Va. at 311, 787 S.E.2d at 582. The prosecutor did not compare Summerfield to a "vulture" who "came to West Virginia to victimize dumb hillbillies," and he did not "argue[] facts not in evidence." *State v. Critzer*, 176

W. Va. 655, 661, 280 S.E.2d 288, 292 (1981). And the circuit court did not "overrule[] or fail[] to rule on [Summerfield's] objections," either. *Id.* Yet those are the kinds of egregious remarks and failures that this Court has said create prejudice. Nothing of the kind exists here. Thus, Summerfield was not denied due process, and the Court should not grant a new trial based on this assignment of error.

II. The Circuit Court Did Not Err By Declining To Give A "Missing Witness" Jury Instruction.

Summerfield next seeks a new trial because the circuit court followed this Court's precedent and declined to give an unneeded jury instruction regarding missing witness inferences. He does not allege that any of the jury instructions given were defective. He argues only that the circuit court should have given another instruction. And he admits that this Court has already rejected the argument that he was somehow entitled to that instruction in a criminal trial. The Court should hold to that precedent.

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